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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The government does not oppose Defendant-Appellant Ronald W. Paul’s

request for oral argument.
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant-Appellant Ronald W. Paul appeals from the final judgment in
this criminal case. The district court (Haynes, J.), which had jurisdiction under
18 U.S.C. § 3231, entered its judgment on July 1, 2015. Judgment, R.128, Page
ID #395.! Paul filed a timely notice of appeal on July 10, 2015. Notice of
Appeal, R.131, Page ID #436. On May 24, 2016, this Court remanded for
further proceedings in light of the Supreme Court’s decision in Nichols v. United
States, 136 S. Ct. 1113 (2016). On remand, the district court (Trauger, J.)
sustained one count of conviction but vacated two others. Order, R.176, Page
ID #1208. On March 21, 2017, Paul filed a timely notice of appeal. Notice of
Appeal, R.177, Page ID # 1209. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1291.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the district court correctly denied Paul’s motions to dismiss the
indictment on the ground that Paul’s sex offense conviction under Tennessee
law required him to register under the federal Sex Offender Registration and

Notification Act (“SORNA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 16901 et seq., regardless of the

! Similar to Paul’s brief (“Br.”), the government’s abbreviations refer to
the district court’s docket entry (“R.”), the PagelD range (“#”), the trial
transcript (“Tr.”), and the government exhibit number (“GEX”). The
government’s appendix (“App.”) filed alongside this brief reproduces the cited
trial exhibits, including one defense exhibit.



validity of a Tennessee state court judgment purporting to excuse Paul from a
requirement to register as a sex offender under state law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a three-day trial, a jury convicted Ronald W. Paul on three
counts of traveling in interstate and foreign commerce and knowingly failing to
update his sex offender registration, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a). The
district court subsequently vacated two counts following a remand from this
Court. Paul was sentenced to two months of incarceration, which he had
already served; fourteen months in a halfway house; and five years of supervised
release. Judgment, R.128, Page ID #396-98; Sentencing Tr., R.130, Page 1D
#429-30; 433.

I. Relevant Facts

A. Paul’s Sex Offense Conviction

In 1995, a Robertson County, Tennessee jury heard facts establishing that
over a four-year period, Paul raped and sexually abused his stepdaughter, who
was eleven when the sexual assaults began. State v. Paul, No. 01C01-9511-
CC00358, 1997 WL 578969, at *1 (Tenn. Crim. App. Sept. 19, 1997). Following
his arrest, Paul tried to hire someone to kill his stepdaughter and her mother. Id.
at *1 n.2. But when Paul learned that the individual he had solicited to commit

the murders was in fact an undercover agent for the Tennessee Bureau of



Investigation (“TBI”), Paul withdrew his request. Id. The jury convicted Paul
on three counts of rape, one count of aggravated sexual battery, and two counts
of sexual battery. Id. at *1. Paul was sentenced to 32 years of incarceration. Id.
The Tennessee Court of Appeals affirmed, rejecting Paul’s sole argument on
appeal that the trial court erred in admitting a nurse practitioner’s testimony
identifying Paul as the perpetrator. Id.

Some procedural complications ensued. In 1999, Paul timely delivered to
prison authorities a pro se state post-conviction petition alleging ineffective
assistance of trial and appellate counsel, but he addressed the envelope to the
wrong city. Paul v. State, 75 S.W.3d 926, 927 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2001). The
Robertson County Circuit Court dismissed Paul’s petition as untimely, but the
Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals reversed. Id. at 929. In 2002, Paul (now
assisted by counsel) filed an amended post-conviction petition, which resulted
in the Robertson County court granting him a “delayed appeal” of his 1995
conviction and dismissing without prejudice his other claims. State v. Paul, No.
M2002-00810-CCA-R3-CD, 2003 WL 716269, at *1 (Tenn. Crim. App. Mar. 3,
2003). But the Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals dismissed that delayed
appeal and concluded that the Robertson County court erred in “summarily”

dismissing Paul’s remaining ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Id. at *2.



In 2006, the Robertson County court entered a 55-page order addressing
Paul’s various post-conviction claims. Paul v. State, No. 9310 (Robertson Cnty
Cir. Ct. July 14, 2006) (unpub.) (appended to this brief as addendum A). The
court rejected most of those claims, but held that Paul’s appellate counsel had
been ineffective in failing to challenge on direct appeal the admissibility of TBI
tape recordings related to the murder-for-hire scheme. Id. at 48-52. The court
therefore ordered a new trial, id. at 55, and Paul was released from custody.

The following year Paul and the state of Tennessee entered a plea
agreement. App. 1-2 (admitted at trial as Def. Ex. 1; see Trial Tr., R.139, Page
ID #773-74) Under that agreement, the five counts of which Paul had been
convicted in 1995 were dismissed, and Paul agreed to plead no contest to one
count of rape and to receive a time-served sentence of 11 years and 11 months.
Id. at 1. One of the special conditions under the plea agreement was that Paul
would not have to register as a sex offender under Tennessee law. Id. On
February 16, 2007, the Robertson County court entered a judgment against Paul
consistent with the terms of the plea agreement, including a notation that “nor
shall the defendant be required to comply w/ the sexual offender registry.”

Robertson County Judgment, R.22-1, Page 1D #37.



B. Paul’s Failure to Register in Compliance with Federal Law

Paul was released from state custody on July 10, 2006, App. 1 (plea
agreement), and registered as a sex offender seven days later at the Jackson
County (Tennessee) Sheriff’s Office, Trial Tr., R.139. Page ID #666; GEX 1.
When Paul first registered on July 17, 2006, Lisa Meadows, who was the sex
offender registration officer at the Jackson County Sheriff’s Office, spent 30
minutes reviewing the requirements with Paul to ensure that he understood his
registration obligations and then provided him with a copy of the registration
instructions. Trial Tr., R.139, Page 1D #664-68. Paul signed a form under
penalty of perjury indicating that he had read and understood various reporting
requirements for sex offenders, including the requirement under Tennessee law
that he report in person to a law enforcement agency within 48 hours of a change
of address. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #646-48; GEX 1. Paul complained to
Meadows that he did not know why he had to register, but she told him that the
TBI—not she—was responsible for determining who was required to register.
Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #665.

On February 27, 2007 (which was 16 days after entry of the Tennessee
judgment that included the notation that he did not have to register, see
Robertson County Judgment, R.22-1, Page ID #37), Paul registered again at the

Sheriff’s Office. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #666. At that time, he updated his



registration form with a change of address. Trial Tr., R.139, Page 1D #665;
GEX 2. Paul continued to register at the Jackson County Sheriff’s Office at
regular intervals throughout 2007, 2008, and up to March 2009, each time
acknowledging a duty to register under state law. GEX 3-11. On a number of
these occasions, Paul complained that he did not understand why he was
required to register. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #680; 695; 723.

The registration form Paul signed in March 2009 indicated that he was
classified as a “violent sexual offender[]” under Tennessee law and therefore
required to register four times a year, in March, June, September, and
December. Id. at #706; GEX 11. That form also indicated that violent sex
offenders must pay an annual $150 administrative fee, which Paul paid. Trial
Tr., R.139, Page ID #706.

Following his March 2009 registration, Paul did not register until
December 31, 2009. Id. at #655. The December 2009 registration form that
Paul signed included a notification that under federal law “persons with sex
offense convictions must register . . . in each jurisdiction (state or territory)” in
which they reside, and that a failure to do so could subject an individual to
prosecution “under federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 2250 . . . which may be independent
of any additional state law violations.” GEX 12, App. 51. Paul did not register

again after December 2009. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #645.



In October 2010, Deborah Gillihan, a jail administrator for the Jackson
County Sheriff’s Office, noticed that Paul had failed to report for a number of
months. Id. at #710; 713. She called a phone number listed for next of kin on
his most recent registration form, and reached Deborah Hancock, Paul’s
daughter. Id. at #711. Two days later, Gillihan received a call from Paul, who
told her that he was in the Philippines. Id. Gillihan subsequently used
information from the files of the Jackson County Sheriff’s Office and Paul’s
flight itineraries (provided by the United States Marshal Services, see GEX 13
and GEX 21 (stipulation that GEX 13 is accurate)) to create a calendar showing
when Paul had registered at the Sheriff’s Office and when he was abroad in the
Philippines. Id. at #714-16. In addition to travel in 2007 and 2008, Paul spent
approximately four months in the Philippines in 2009; eleven months there in
2010 and 2011; and three months in 2012. GEX 14, App. 66-71. During April
2011, Paul was living with his daughter in Tennessee and went in person to
register vehicles at a Jackson County office, Trial Tr. R.139, Page ID #721; 731,

but did not register as a sex offender at the Jackson County Sheriff’s Office.



II. Procedural History

In May 2012, a federal grand jury indicted Paul on one count of knowing
failure to update a registration as required under federal law between March and
May 2011, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2250. Indictment, R.1, Page ID #1-2.
Paul moved to dismiss the indictment, principally arguing that his 2007 state
court judgment excused any state duty to register as a sex offender and that
federal law did not impose any duty to register distinct from the state
requirement. Mtn. to Dismiss, R.22, Page ID #32-36. The district court denied
that motion. Order, R.34, Page ID #73. The district court granted Paul’s
motion for reconsideration to address an additional argument Paul raised, but
again denied the motion to dismiss the indictment. Order, R.37, Page ID #78-
80. The case proceeded to trial but ended in a mistrial. Minute Entry, R.59,
Page 1D #134.

In January 2013, a federal grand jury returned a superseding indictment
charging Paul with three violations of § 2250. Indictment, R.65, Page ID #194-
95. In addition to charging (as Count Three) the failure to register in the spring
of 2011, Counts One and Two charged failure-to-register offenses in July 2009
and October 2009, respectively. Id. Paul again moved to dismiss the indictment,
making the same principal argument but also claiming that the government

could not collaterally attack the validity of the Tennessee state court judgment.



Mtn. to Dismiss, R.80, Page ID #240-53. The government contended that Paul
was required to register under Tennessee law because the state court judgment
was invalid, but that in any event Paul’s duty to register under federal law was
“separate and distinct” from his registration obligation under Tennessee law.
Gov. Response to Mtn. to Dismiss, R.85, Page ID #266. The district court
denied Paul’s motion, concluding that Paul had a duty to register under federal
law as a result of his Tennessee rape conviction, which “was unaffected by the
disputed state court judgment absolving him of his state duty to register.” Mem.
Opinion, R.88, Page ID #287. The district court therefore did not reach the
parties’ contested arguments about the validity of the state court judgment. Id.
at #287-88.

Before trial, the government filed a motion in limine to preclude Paul from
arguing that the state court judgment excused him from the legal obligation to
register as a sex offender. Mtn. in Limine, R.95, Page ID #301-02. Paul did not
file a response. The district court ruled that Paul could not offer the state court
judgment as a legal defense, but could rely on that judgment to “explain why he
did what he did,” Trial Tr., R.138, Page ID #486, i.e., the jury could consider
the judgment in deciding whether Paul knowingly failed to update a registration,
see, e.g., Trial Tr., R.140, Page ID #873 (jury instruction explaining Paul’s theory

of defense that he “was in possession of a valid Tennessee judgment . . . that



excluded him from the obligation to register . . . under Tennessee law; and as
such, he did not knowingly fail to register under [federal law]”).

The case proceeded to trial. A conviction under § 2250(a) requires the
government to prove that a person (1) “is required to register under [SORNA],”

’

(2) “travels 1n interstate or foreign commerce,” and (3) “knowingly fails to
register or update a registration as required by [SORNA].” United States v. Trent,
654 F.3d 574, 579 (6th Cir. 2011). Paul stipulated that his rape conviction
required him to register under SORNA and that he had engaged in foreign
travel. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #659-60; GEX 23, 21. Having heard the other
evidence recounted above, the jury convicted Paul on all three counts.

Paul appealed, raising arguments materially identical to those raised in his
opening brief. Compare Appellant Brief, No. 15-5754 (filed Oct. 30, 2015) with
Appellant Brief, No. 17-5329 (filed May 2, 2017). While that appeal was
pending, the Supreme Court held in Nichols v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 1113
(2016), that a sex offender who abandoned his residence in the United States
and moved abroad without reporting that change of address to any authorities
had not violated SORNA and therefore could not be prosecuted under 18 U.S.C.
§ 2250. Id. at 1117-18. After soliciting additional briefing from the parties on

Nichols, this Court determined that the “issue of residence” in Paul’s case was

“not adequately litigated” below. Order, No. 15-5754 (May 24, 2016) at 1. The
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Court therefore remanded for “further proceedings in light of Nichols.” Id. Judge
Merritt concurred, but would have further held that Nichols required dismissal of
Counts One and Two. Id. at 2-7.2

On remand, the district court analyzed whether, under Nichols, Paul’s
convictions were sound. See Memorandum, R.175, Page ID #1192-1207. It
vacated Counts One and Two, reasoning that those counts improperly charged
a failure to register before Paul had traveled in foreign commerce. See id. at
#1202-05. In contrast, the district court concluded that the evidence adequately
supported his failure-to-register conviction on Count Three because Paul was
residing in Tennessee between March 31, 2011 and May 5, 2011. Id. at #1205-
07. The district court upheld that conviction and concluded that the “interests

of justice” did not require a new trial on that count. Id. at #1206-07.

2 Paul incorrectly states (Br. 20) that this Court “vacated” his convictions based
on Nichols. But the Court did not vacate the judgment; it ordered only a remand
for further proceedings. Cf. United States v. Powell, 847 F¥.3d 760, 782 (6th Cir.
2017) (Court “vacate[s]” convictions and remands for entry of acquittal on one
count and “further proceedings” on other counts); see also United States v. Zimny,
846 F.3d 458, 472 (1st Cir. 2017) (concluding that a limited remand “for further
investigation” was preferable to “vacating [the defendant]|’s conviction outright
and ordering a new trial”). The district court appropriately treated this Court’s
order as a limited remand to consider only the effect of the Nichols decision on
Paul’s case. See Memorandum, R.175, Page ID #1193-94.

11



III. Ruling Presented For Review

Paul now renews his challenges to the district court’s orders denying his
first motion to dismiss the indictment (R.34), denying that motion on
reconsideration (R.37), and denying his motion to dismiss the superseding
indictment (R.89). Paul also appeals the district court’s order sustaining his
conviction on Count Three following remand from this Court (R.176), but does
not challenge the district court’s conclusion that Nichols requires neither acquittal
nor a new trial on that count.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act
(“SORNA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 16901 et seq., creates a federal duty for a federally-
defined sex offender to register in the jurisdiction where he resides, works, or
studies. § 16913. SORNA also imposes federal punishment for the failure to do
so. 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a). Paul violated § 2250(a) because his 2007 Tennessee
rape conviction required him to register under SORNA, he traveled in foreign
commerce, and he knowingly failed to update his sex offender registration. The
fact that a notation on the 2007 Tennessee judgment purported to excuse Paul
from the obligation to register as sex offender under Tennessee state law is

immaterial to Paul’s independent federal duty to register under SORNA.
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2. Paul was not precluded from putting on a defense when the district
court prevented him from arguing to the jury that the Tennessee judgment
legally excused him from registration as a sex offender under federal law. The
district court properly determined that such a defense was legal in nature, and
therefore not the province of the jury. In any event, Paul articulated that very
argument to the jury and otherwise made ample use of the Tennessee judgment
in his defense.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PAUL’S
MOTIONS TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT BECAUSE PAUL
VIOLATED A FEDERAL DUTY TO REGISTER AS A SEX
OFFENDER, IRRESPECTIVE OF THE VALIDITY OF THE
TENNESSEE STATE COURT JUDGMENT.

Paul argues (Br. 26-54) that he did not violate his duty to register under
the federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (“SORNA”), 42
U.S.C. §§ 16901 et seq., because he had no such duty. That argument rests on
two premises: (1) the obligation to register as a sex offender under SORNA arises
only when there is an obligation to register under state law, and (2) Paul had no
obligation to register under state law. The first premise 1s flawed, as the district
court concluded, so there is no need to address the second. SORNA’s plain
language, its purpose, and relevant authorities interpreting the statute establish

that SORNA creates a federal registration duty that is independent of state law.
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Paul violated that federal duty when he failed to update his sex offender
registration. The validity of the Tennessee judgment purporting to excuse Paul
from registering under state law is immaterial to his duty to register under federal
law.

A. Standard of review.

This Court reviews the denial of a motion to dismiss the indictment for
abuse of discretion. United States v. Coleman, 675 F.3d 615, 619 (6th Cir. 2012).
When, as here, a defendant challenges a district court’s “purely legal
determinations” such as the applicability and construction of SORNA, the
Court reviews such determinations de novo. United States v. Felts, 674 F.3d 599,
602 (6th Cir. 2012).

B. SORNA creates a federal duty to register as a sex offender that is
independent of state law.

Whether a sex offender’s duty to register under SORNA arises under
federal law or is instead, as Paul contends (Br. 33), “solely a function of his status
under state law” is a question of statutory interpretation for which the Court
looks primarily to the statute’s language and structure. See United States v.
Roman, 795 F.3d 511, 515 (6th Cir. 2015); United States v. Miller, 734 F.3d 530,
540 (6th Cir. 2013). The language and structure of SORNA’s many interlocking
provisions establish both a federal duty for sex offenders to register and federal

punishment for a failure to do so.
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1. Consider first the registration requirement. SORNA imposes, as a
matter of federal law, a mandatory requirement that every sex offender “register,
and keep the registration current, in each jurisdiction where the offender resides,
where the offender is an employee, and where the offender is a student.” 42
U.S.C. § 16913(a). The statute provides that a sex offender “shall initially
register” either “before completing a sentence of imprisonment with respect to
the offense giving rise to the registration requirement” or, “if the sex offender 1s

M«

not sentenced to a term of imprisonment,” “not later than 3 business days after
being sentenced for that offense.” § 16913(b).

Federal law also determines who is required to register. Most basically,
SORNA requires registration of an “individual convicted of a sex offense.” 42
U.S.C. § 16911(1). The statute thus makes clear that federal “registration
requirements are predicated on convictions,” not on the existence or absence of
a state-law registration requirement. Office of the Att’y Gen., U.S. Dep’t of
Justice, The National Guidelines for Sex Offender Registration and Notification
(National Guidelines), 73 Fed. Reg. 38,030, 38,050 (July 2, 2008). Accordingly,
Paul’s conviction for rape under Tennessee law gave rise to his federal duty to
register as a sex offender.

Moreover, instead of relying on state-law definitions, SORNA federally

defines “sex offense,” § 16911(5), and federally classifies sex offenders in “tiers”
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according to the severity of their sex offense conviction, § 16911(2)-(4). These
tiers, in turn, establish the number of years a sex offender must register as a
matter of federal law, § 16915, and how many in-person visits a sex offender
must make annually, § 16916. In short, SORNA creates and carefully prescribes
a federally-defined sex offender’s federal registration requirements.

SORNA also establishes a federal punishment for failure to comply with
this federal registration requirement. See 18 U.S.C. § 2250. The statute’s plain
language indicates it reaches only a person who is required to register “under”
SORNA and who knowingly fails to register or update a registration “as
required by” SORNA. § 2250(a)(1) and (3). The jurisdictional element of
§ 2250(a) ensures that the federal government can only prosecute an individual
whose sex offense conviction arose under federal law or who has traveled in
interstate or foreign commerce. § 2250(a)(2). SORNA does not, however,
“draw[] a sharp initial distinction between state sex offenders . . . and federal sex
offenders.” See Br. 28. Section 2250 applies only to a sex offender who has, and
has violated, a federal registration requirement, and does not extend to any state-
law sex offender whose conviction does not require registration ‘“under”
SORNA. §2250(a)(1); see also National Guidelines, 73 Fed. Reg. at 38,046 (noting

that in setting “minimum national standards,” SORNA established a “floor,”
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not a “ceiling,” and that states may still “require[] registration by broader classes
of convicted offenders than those identified in SORNA”).

Interpreting the duty to register under SORNA as arising under federal
law—and therefore distinct from any state-law requirement—is consistent with
and facilitates SORNA'’s purpose. See United States v. Zabawa, 719 F.3d 555, 560-
61 (6th Cir. 2013) (a statute should be construed so as not to frustrate its
purpose). Congress enacted SORNA in 2006 to “establish[] a comprehensive
national system for the registration of [sex] offenders.” 42 U.S.C. § 16901;
United States v. Utesch, 596 F.3d 302, 306 (6th Cir. 2010). Faced with “a
patchwork of federal and 50 individual state registration systems,” Reynolds v.
United States, 565 U.S. 432, 435 (2012), Congress created a uniform federal
registration duty to deal with “loopholes and deficiencies” that had resulted in
an estimated 100,000 “missing” or “lost” sex offenders, H. Rep. No. 109-218
(Pt. 1), pp. 20, 23, 26 (2005). Predicating a duty to register as a sex offender
under SORNA—and a violation of that duty—on a state-law registration
requirement (and violation) would frustrate SORNA'’s purpose by re-imposing
the very patchwork SORNA was designed to replace. Cf. United States v. Del
Valle-Cruz, 785 F.3d 48, 55 (1st Cir. 2015) (noting that in light of SORNA'’s
purpose of establishing greater uniformity, it would be “illogical” to allow

individual states to determine the scope of the federal registration requirement).
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As the Supreme Court has recognized, SORNA “punishes violations of
its requirements instead of violations of state law.” United States v. Kebodeaux,
133 S. Ct. 2496, 2505 (2013) (punctuation omitted). This is so because SORNA
creates a “federal duty to register [that] is not dependent on whether [a sex
offender] has a duty under state law to register.” United States v. Morales, 258
F.R.D. 401, 405 (E.D. Wash. 2009). It follows that a sex offender’s failure to
register under federal law subjects that sex offender to federal punishment,
regardless of any state-law requirements. See United States v. Gould, 568 F.3d
459, 464 (4th Cir. 2009) (“[Defendant]’s failure to register in Maryland was a
federal crime under 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a), subject to federal punishment[.]”
(emphasis omitted)); see also United States v. Hann, 574 F. Supp. 2d 827, 833
(M.D. Tenn. 2008) (“Conviction for failure to register under § 2250(a) is
predicated on the defendant’s duty to register under [42 U.S.C.] § 16913.”).

That view is consistent with two sets of decisions that are relevant here.
First, it is consistent with the decisions of this Court—and every court of appeals
to have decided the issue—that a sex offender’s federal duty to register does not

depend on whether a state has implemented reforms called for under SORNA .’

3 SORNA directed states to implement various reforms and permitted states until
July 27, 2009, to comply. 42 U.S.C. § 16924. Failure to “substantially
implement” SORNA’s reforms results in the loss of ten percent of funds
otherwise available to a state under the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets
Act. §16925.
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Felts, 674 F.3d at 603-04 (holding that the “duty of an offender to register is
independent of whether or not the state has implemented SORNA” and
concurring with reasoning in cases from six other circuit courts). Those cases
recognize that a state, in choosing not to implement SORNA (and thereby
foregoing federal funding), may have different registration requirements than
what SORNA mandates, but that the state’s “failure to implement a federal law
. . . does not give sex offenders a reason to disregard their federal obligation to
update their state registrations.” United States v. Shenandoah, 595 F.3d 151, 157
(3d Cir. 2010), abrogated on other grounds by Reynolds, 565 U.S. 432. Thus,
SORNA imposes a federal duty to register as a sex offender and federal
punishment for failing to do so, which no state action or inaction can alter.
Second, interpreting SORNA to impose a federal registration obligation
independent of any state-law requirement follows from the Supreme Court’s
recent decision in Nichols. The Court in Nichols twice emphasized the difference
between the specific (and in that case more limited) registration requirements
that SORNA imposed and the separate duties imposed by the state (there,
Kansas). See 136 S. Ct. at 1118 (explaining that Kansas law, but not SORNA,
imposed “a duty to notify, among other entities, ‘the registering law enforcement
agency or agencies where last registered’” (quoting Kan. Stat. Ann. § 22-4905(g));

id. at 1119 (referring to same state-law registration obligation when noting that
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the Court’s interpretation of SORNA “in no way means” that Nichols would be
able to “escape punishment” by leaving the country without informing the
jurisdiction where he had been living). Nichols, in short, underscores that federal
and state-law registration duties are separate and that the presence (or absence)
of one does not necessarily affect the other.

2. Paul’s contrary arguments lack merit. Although Paul appears to
acknowledge that SORNA creates a distinct federal duty to register as a sex
offender, see, e.g., Br. 23 & 30, he contends that the “real-world application of
SORNA”—under which a federally-defined sex offender typically registers at a
state facility—entails that a sex offender’s “legal status under SORNA is solely
a function of his status under state law,” id. at 31-33. His contention 1s flawed
for several reasons.

First, it ignores the language and structure of SORNA, which nowhere
predicates the federal duty to register, or the federal punishment for failing to
register, on a violation of any state-law duty. See Mem. Opinion, R.88, Page 1D
#287 (“SORNA does not contain any language that ties a federal obligation to
register as a sex offender under SORNA to an obligation to register as a sex
offender under state law.”). Congress can mandate compliance with state-law
requirements as a matter of federal law, see Kebodeaux, 133 S. Ct. at 2502; United

States v. Sharpnack, 355 U.S. 286, 293-94 (1958), but did not do so when it
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enacted SORNA. Instead, SORNA directs federally-defined sex offenders to
register in the jurisdictions—states and various federal enclaves, see 42 U.S.C.
§ 16911(10)—where they reside, work, or study, § 16913. That individuals
required to register under SORNA often do so at a state facility does not
transform that federal registration requirement into a state-law obligation.
Paul’s suggestion (Br. 46-47) that Section 16913(a)’s “plain language” ties
the federal registration requirement “directly” to a state-law registration
requirement is incorrect. He quotes the statutory language correctly—see Br. 46
(Section 16913(a) requires a sex offender to register in “each jurisdiction where
the offender resides, . . . 1s an employee, [and] is a student”)—but draws the
wrong inference. If Congress sought to link the federal registration requirement
to state registration laws, it could have done so explicitly by imposing a federal
registration requirement only on those persons “required to register in a
jurisdiction’s sex offender registry,” the language Congress used in 42 U.S.C.
§ 16919(a). Instead, Congress required any sex offender with a qualifying sex
offense conviction to register wherever in the county he resides (or works or
studies) without regard to state-law registration requirements. See § 16913(a).
Section 16919 also undermines Paul’s claim (Br. 27, 52) that SORNA does
not create a federal registration system. He is correct that the statute did not

duplicate the existing state systems by creating a parallel system of federal
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registration facilities. But the national registry that SORNA did create
encompasses both “each sex offender” as defined under federal law and “any
other person required to register in a jurisdiction’s sex offender registry.” 42
U.S.C. § 16919(a). Thus, even if Paul falls outside the second category as a
result of the Tennessee judgment, he still falls squarely within the first
category—and thus squarely within SORNA'’s federal, national registry.
Similarly, that SORNA urges covered jurisdictions to implement various
reforms—and withholds funds from jurisdictions that do not substantially
implement those reforms, see supra note 3—is a feature of the statute distinct
from the federal registration duty. Paul confuses (Br. 29) these two different
statutory features by lumping them together and describing SORNA as a “dual
state/federal statute.” To be sure, the features complement each other in an
effort to establish a comprehensive national registry of sex offenders. But they
operate distinctly. Registering as a sex offender under SORNA is a federal
requirement with which a sex offender can comply by registering in a state or
other SORNA jurisdiction. 42 U.S.C. § 16913. By contrast, a given state may
decide whether to implement SORNA, with the only consequence being the loss
of federal funds. § 16925; see Shenandoah, 595 F.3d 157 (acknowledging that

states may never implement SORNA). The federally-defined sex offender’s duty
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to register under SORNA does not turn on whether a state has substantially
implemented SORNA. Felts, 674 F.3d at 603-04.

But under Paul’s theory, it would. That theory is both under- and over-
inclusive. In Paul’s view, a state’s decision to ignore SORNA and impose no
registration obligations for any defendant convicted of a sex offense would
excuse all those defendants from any registration obligation under either state or
federal law. Conversely, his view would appear to impose a federal registration
duty even when state law required registration as a prophylactic measure in the
absence of any sex offense conviction. See National Guidelines, 73 Fed. Reg. at
38,046 (states may ‘“require[] registration by broader classes of convicted
offenders than those identified in SORNA”). Neither view finds support in
SORNA'’s plain language or structure.

Paul’s reading of SORNA would also subvert the statute’s purpose. That
reading—that a registration obligation arises “under SORNA” only for an
offender with a state-law registration obligation—risks a return of the ineffective
“patchwork” that precipitated SORNA’s enactment in the first place. See
Reynolds, 565 U.S. 435; see also supra at 17. Congress imposed a standalone
federal registration duty on sex offenders in light of “the lack of basic uniformity
and effective operation among the various States in administering sex registry

programs.” H. Rep. No. 109-218 (Pt. 1), p. 24. Paul’s interpretation of SORNA
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would reintroduce that disuniformity by relying on the quirks of state
registration systems to determine the scope of federal criminal liability under
Section 2250. Indeed, it is precisely for a case such as this one, involving an
offender convicted of raping his minor stepdaughter, that Congress sought to
legislate a comprehensive national sex offender registry. See id. at 22 (noting, in
a section addressing the need for SORNA, that “sexual victimization of children
is overwhelming in magnitude and largely unrecognized and underreported”).
Furthermore, no case law supports Paul’s reading of SORNA. Paul’s
claim (Br. 29) that courts have “wrestled with” whether § 2250(a) either imposes
an independent federal duty to register or relies on a state-law registration
obligation 1s inaccurate. As described above, courts have consistently
interpreted SORNA to create an independent federal duty.* Other than Justice

Thomas’s dissenting opinion in Kebodeaux, Paul relies (Br. 29-30) for this claim

4 In addition to the cases cited above, see also United States v. Billiot, 785 F.3d
1266, 1269 (8th Cir. 2015) (“Although SORNA requires states to ‘maintain a
jurisdiction-wide sex offender registry,” SORNA imposes an independent federal
obligation for sex offenders to register that does not depend on, or incorporate,
a state-law registration requirement.”); Kennedy v. Allera, 612 F.3d 261, 263 (4th
Cir. 2010) (“SORNA lawfully imposes, as a matter of federal law, registration
obligations directly on sex offenders.”); United States v. Goguen, -- F. Supp. 3d --,
2016 WL 6495436, at *5 (D. Me. 2016) (circuit precedent “makes clear that an
offender’s obligation to register under the federal SORNA statute is separate
from the offender’s duty to register under state law. Thus, even though Mr.
Goguen was not required to register under Maine’s sex offender registry law, he
still needed to register federally under SORNA.”).
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only on United States v. Waybright, 561 F. Supp. 2d 1154, 1164-65 (D. Mont.
2008) (holding that SORNA'’s registration requirement in 42 U.S.C. § 16913, as
applied to offenders who had not traveled out of state, violated the Commerce
Clause). But the Ninth Circuit explicitly disapproved of the reasoning in
Waybright, United States v. George, 625 F.3d 1124, 1129 n.2 (9th Cir. 2010), vacated
on other grounds, 672 F.3d 1126 (9th Cir. 2012), before entirely repudiating it, see
United States v. Cabrera-Gutierrez, 756 F.3d 1125, 1129-32 (9th Cir. 2013)
(reaffirming the holding in George). Paul repeatedly quotes the dictum from
Kebodeaux that the government appears to have prosecuted a sex offender under
SORNA only when that offender has also violated state registration
requirements, but overlooks the clause in the same sentence acknowledging that
SORNA punishes not violations of state law, but violations of its own, federal
requirements. 133 S. Ct. at 2505.

Nor, as Paul appears to claim, do the cases presuppose that a defendant
prosecuted under § 2250 necessarily violated a state-law registration
requirement. Paul characterizes (Br. 45) this Court’s decision in Felts, which
held in relevant part that the duty to register under SORNA 1s a federal
obligation independent of Tennessee’s implementation of SORNA’s reforms, as
“entirely premised on the assumption” that the sex offender was required to

register under state law. But this Court has not described its precedent in this
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manner in Felts or any of the other cases Paul cites, see id. at 45-46 (citing Trent,
654 F.3d 574 and United States v. Harper, 502 F. App’x 447, 450 (6th Cir. 2012)
(unpub.)), and Paul offers no rationale for reading that assumption into those
cases.

Finally, Paul’s interpretation of SORNA creates practical problems.
Suppose, for example, that a defendant is convicted for a sex offense under
Tennessee law. Suppose further that federal law classifies that Tennessee
conviction as a tier II sex offense, subjecting the defendant to a 25-year
registration requirement, see 42 U.S.C. § 16915, but that Tennessee law requires
registration for only 15 years. Under Paul’s reading of SORNA, that defendant
would only be required to register for 15 years because after that point he would
no longer have any state-law registration obligation regardless of the longer
registration period specified under SORNA. But that reading, which would
allow a state to hamstring the more stringent federal registration requirement,
contravenes SORNA’s goal of “strengthening and increasing the effectiveness
of sex offender registration laws.” Gould, 568 F.3d at 464.

C. Paul violated his federal duty to register as a sex offender.

An 1individual violates 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a) when he (1) “is required to
register under [SORNA],” (2) “travels in interstate or foreign commerce,” and

(3) “knowingly fails to register or update a registration as required by

26



[SORNA].” United States v. Trent, 654 F.3d 574, 579 (6th Cir. 2011). Paul
stipulated at trial that his 2007 Tennessee rape conviction qualified as a sex
offense under SORNA and that he traveled in foreign commerce to the
Philippines. See Trial Tr., R.139. Page ID #659-60. The Tennessee rape statute
under which Paul was convicted constitutes a tier III offense, see Presentence
Investigation Report, R.137, 9 24, which requires Paul to register as a sex
offender four times a year for his lifetime. 42 U.S.C. §§ 16915, 16916. The jury
heard evidence that Paul reported regularly in 2007 and 2008, but only registered
twice in 2009, and then did not register again. Those facts established that Paul
knowingly failed to update his registration.

Paul’s argument to the contrary did not persuade the jury and should not
persuade this Court. Indeed, Paul did not appeal, and therefore has not
preserved any challenge to, the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his
conviction, including the trial evidence establishing that he knowingly failed to
update his sex offender registration in violation of federal law. Furthermore, at
this point in the litigation, the sole count before this Court involved Paul’s failure
to register between March 31, 2011 and May 5, 2011. See supra at 11. By that
time, Paul had signed his December 2009 registration form on which he
acknowledged a separate federal duty to register under SORNA. See GEX 12,

App. 46-51.
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D. The validity of the Tennessee state court judgment does not affect
Paul’s federal duty to register as a sex offender.

Relying principally on the unpublished decision in United States v. Starnes,
501 F. App’x 379 (6th Cir. 2012), Paul argues that this Court must treat as valid
the language from his 2007 Tennessee rape conviction that purports to excuse
him from the duty to register as a sex offender under state law. Br. 33-43. That
argument, however, rests on the premise that the duty to register under SORNA
arises only when a sex offender has a state-law registration requirement. And
as explained above, that premise i1s faulty: SORNA creates a federal duty to
register as a sex offender independent of any state-law requirement. Although
there are reasonable arguments that the condition from the Tennessee judgment
purporting to excuse Paul from registration under Tennessee law is invalid, see
Gov. Resp. to Mtn. to Dismiss, R.85, Page ID #259-68, the validity of the state-
court judgment is immaterial to Paul’s federal duty to register under SORNA..°

Accordingly, this Court need not address Paul’s federalism-based

arguments. Paul argues (Br. 50-54) that treating his 2007 Tennessee state

> Paul repeatedly points (Br. 15, 23, 26, 32, 44, 47) to the government’s statement
during opening that “federal law requires that you follow the state law.” Trial
Tr., R.139, Page ID #615. That statement is indeed inaccurate to the extent it
implies that the federal duty to register under SORNA depends on state-law
registration requirements. But to the extent this inaccurate statement amounted
to error, which Paul does not claim, it is harmless for two reasons. First, it is a
statement concerning the law, about which only the district court is authorized
to instruct the jury. See United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 513 (1995); see Trial
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judgment as invalid in the absence of any court order to that effect would violate
the Constitution’s Full Faith and Credit Clause and the Tenth Amendment, and
that a federal law requiring someone in his position to register would violate the
anti-commandeering principle articulated in Printz v. United States, 521 U.S. 898
(1997). But this Court has rejected a number of those arguments in the SORNA
context. See, e.g., Felts, 674 F.3d at 606-08 (finding that Congress has not
commandeered Tennessee nor any state through SORNA); United States v. Stock,
685 F.3d 621, 626 (6th Cir. 2012) (rejecting claim that SORNA violated the
Tenth Amendment). In any event, the arguments are beside the point. Even
assuming arguendo that Paul had no state-law duty to register because of the 2007
Tennessee judgment, he still violated his independent federal duty to register
under SORNA.

Paul’s federalism-based arguments are also misconceived. For one thing,
Paul’s arguments undermine principles of federalism because, in his view, a
defendant’s plea agreement executed in state court for a state criminal law
offense could foreclose federal prosecutors and federal courts from assessing

whether that defendant’s subsequent conduct violated an independent federal

Tr., R.140, Page ID #864 (jury instructions) (“It is also my duty at the end of
the trial to instruct you on the law applicable to the case.”). Second, the
statement, which was favorable to Paul’s theory of the case, may well have made
it more difficult for the government to secure a conviction in this case.
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law. Paul, however, identifies no authority to support such a far-reaching
conception of federalism. Moreover, neither any provision in SORNA nor the
district court below failed to give the Tennessee judgment the “force and effect”
it deserved (see Desjardins v. Desjardins, 308 F.2d 111, 116 (6th Cir. 1962)) under
the Full Faith and Credit Clause because neither predicated Paul’s federal
registration obligation on Tennessee law or on the specific Tennessee judgment
in Paul’s state case. Similarly, Paul’s Tenth Amendment commandeering
argument (Br. 52-53) lacks merit because county officials in Tennessee regularly
register sex offenders who have no obligation to register under Tennessee law
(because their sex offense conviction occurred in another jurisdiction) just as
county officials in other states register sex offenders whose convictions arose
under Tennessee law.

Paul’s as-applied constitutional vagueness challenge, apparently premised
on a lack of notice on account of the Tennessee state judgment (see Br. 47-49),
also lacks merit. To succeed on a void-for-vagueness claim under the Due
Process Clause, a defendant must establish that the challenged criminal statute
either “fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what 1s
prohibited, or is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously
discriminatory enforcement.” United States v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 304

(2008). A defendant urging the invalidation of a federal statute on vagueness
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grounds must overcome “the strong presumptive validity that attaches to an Act
of Congress.” Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358, 403 (2010) (quoting United
States v. Nat’l Dairy Products Corp., 372 U.S. 29, 32 (1963)). Paul fails to do so
here.

The multiple provisions in SORNA identifying, as a matter of federal law,
who must register, how often, where, and the punishment for failing to do so do
not render the statute unconstitutionally vague, see United States v. Bruffy, 466 F.
App’x 239, 244 (4th Cir. 2012) (unpub.) (rejecting vagueness challenge to
SORNA), and Paul does not appear to argue otherwise. Instead, he contends
(Br. 49) that vagueness arises when he reads on the face of his Tennessee state
judgment that he is not required to register as a sex offender under state law.
That contention fails for three reasons. First, Paul’s argument confuses his
conviction for rape under Tennessee law with a collateral consequence—having
to register as a sex offender—that flows from that conviction. Paul correctly
notes (Br. 49) that SORNA predicates registration on the underlying conviction.
See 42 U.S.C. § 16911(1). But his conviction—which encompasses only his
adjudication of guilt for rape under Tennessee law, see Black’s Law Dictionary,
“conviction” (10th ed. 2014)—<clearly brings him within the scope of SORNA’s
sex offense definition. See 42 U.S.C. § 16911(5). Second, Paul’s vagueness

challenge relies on the same faulty premise that plagues his other arguments.
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Paul had no reason to consider state-law registration requirements when
determining whether he had an independent federal-law obligation to register
under SORNA.

Finally, the relevant facts demonstrate that Paul cannot succeed on his as-
applied vagueness claims. The defendant bears the burden to “prove the statute
was misleading ‘as applied to his particular case.”” United States v. Lechner, 806
F.3d 869, 875 (6th Cir. 2015) (citation omitted). In December 2009, however,
Paul signed a registration form that that specifically advised him of a separate
federal duty under SORNA to register, which carried separate federal
punishment for any failure to register. See GEX 12, App. 51. Thus, even
assuming some initial uncertainty concerning his federal registration
obligations, that uncertainty had long since dissipated by the spring of 2011, the
date of Paul’s failure to register.

Nor can Paul use his vagueness challenge as a vehicle to rehash the trial
evidence. The jury heard evidence that Tennessee authorities informed Paul
that he was required to register under state law, and Paul signed registration
documentation acknowledging his state-law, and in one case, federal-law,
registration requirements. See Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #664-68; GEX 3-11.
Moreover, Paul registered for a period of time, paid the administrative fee, but

then simply stopped. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #645, 706. This was more than
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sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude (as it necessarily did) that Paul was
on notice of, and violated, his federal registration requirement. Paul was free to
argue, as he did, that the 2007 Tennessee judgment meant that he lacked notice
of that requirement, but the jury did not credit his argument.®

II. PAUL WAS NOT PRECLUDED FROM MAKING A DEFENSE.

Paul briefly argues (Br. 54-55) that the district court precluded him from
making a defense when it granted the government’s motion in limine and
prevented Paul from arguing that the 2007 Tennessee state judgment excused
him from a registration requirement. That argument is meritless.

A. Background

The government filed a pretrial motion in limine to preclude Paul from
arguing that he was not legally required to register under federal or state law.
Mtn. in Limine, R.95, Page ID #301-02. The government argued that in light
of the district court’s denial of Paul’s motion to dismiss the indictment on the
ground that the Tennessee judgment did not excuse Paul from the federal duty

to register, Paul should not be allowed to argue that legal question to the jury.

¢ Paul does not argue that any inconsistency between Tennessee law and
SORNA “render|[ed] it impractical, or even impossible, for [him] to register
under federal law.” Felts, 674 F.3d at 605; see 18 U.S.C. § 2250(c) (providing
affirmative defense to Section 2250 prosecution where ‘“uncontrollable
circumstances” prevented a sex offender from registering). For good reason, as
the trial evidence established that Paul was able to register at the Jackson County
Sheriff’s Office without incident.
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Id. at 301 (citing United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 513 (1995)). The
government acknowledged that whether Paul knew he had to register was a
factual question for the jury. Id. at 302. Paul did not file a response.

At a hearing before jury selection, the district court agreed with the
government’s view, reasoning that Paul could not argue that the Tennessee
judgment provided a legal defense but that he could state what the Tennessee
judgment said and “use it to explain why he did what he did.” Trial Tr., R.138,
Page ID #486. Paul told the district court that he had no objection to that view,
and the district court granted the government’s motion. Id.

B. Standard of Review

Where a party objects to a district court’s evidentiary ruling, which
includes a ruling on a motion in limine, this Court reviews for abuse of
discretion. United States v. Poulsen, 655 F.3d 492, 510 (6th Cir. 2011). In the
absence of a contemporaneous objection, this Court reviews an evidentiary
ruling for plain error. United States v. Kelly, 204 F.3d 652, 655 (6th Cir. 2000).
Plain error exists if there is an “(1) error (2) that ‘was obvious or clear,’ (3) that
‘affected defendant’s substantial rights’ and (4) that ‘affected the fairness,
integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.”” United States v.

Vonner, 516 F.3d 382, 386 (6th Cir. 2008) (en banc) (citation omitted).
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C. The district court did not err by limiting Paul’s use of the
Tennessee state law judgment to whether Paul knowingly failed
to register under federal law.

Paul contends that the district court erred in its evidentiary ruling because
the jury should have heard his argument that the Tennessee state judgment
excused him from any federal duty to register as a sex offender, and that such
error precluded him from making a defense. That contention misunderstands
the law and overlooks the fact that Paul was still able to rely on the state-law
judgment in his defense case. Paul failed to object below, so plain-error review
applies. But even if the arguments from Paul’s motions to dismiss were
construed to preserve this claim, the district court’s considered ruling was not an
abuse of discretion.

Paul’s intended jury argument—that the Tennessee state-court judgment
legally excused him from a federal registration duty under SORNA—is a purely
legal question, to be resolved by a judge. See Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 513. Paul
concedes (Br. 55) that whether a predicate sex-offense conviction requires the
sex offender to register under SORNA is “ordinarily” a purely legal question,
but suggests that his case involves “unique and unprecedented facts”
distinguishing it from the ordinary case. Not so. The question for the first
element of § 2250—whether a defendant was required to register under

SORNA—required a legal determination that is outside the province of the jury.
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And for the reasons discussed above, the district court correctly determined that
the Tennessee state judgment did not absolve Paul from the federal duty to
register under SORNA.

To be sure, Paul was not required to stipulate—as he ultimately did, see
Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #659-60—that the first element was satisfied. He
could have contested the first element and required the jury to find the fact that
he was convicted of rape under Tennessee law. But Paul was not permitted to
ask the jury to nullify the district court’s legal determination that the Tennessee
judgment excused him from any federal registration obligation.

Most importantly, the district court’s ruling did not prevent Paul from
putting on a defense. Paul could—and did—argue to the jury that the Tennessee
judgment facially appeared to excuse him from any state-law registration
requirement. Trial Tr., R.139, Page ID #635-36 (Paul opening statement). That
argument properly put before the jury the question of whether Paul had
knowingly failed to register. Indeed, Paul went beyond that and actually told the
jury that “if he had no obligation to register under the Tennessee statute, he had
no obligation to register under the federal statute.” Id. at #638. Paul
emphasized how he complained about his registration requirement in light of

his state plea agreement and the language in the Tennessee judgment. Trial Tr.,
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R.140, Page ID #842-46 (Paul closing argument). Paul, in short, put on the very

defense that he now claims he was precluded from making.
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CONCLUSION

The district court’s judgment should be affirmed.
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DESIGNATION OF DISTRICT COURT RECORD

The government designates following documents from the district court

record:
Docket
Document Page ID #

No.
R-1 Indictment 1-2
R-22 Motion to Dismiss the Indictment 32-36

R-22-1 Robertson County (Tennessee) Judgment 37
R-27 Government Response to Motion to Dismiss 40-41

R-33 District Court Memorandum in Support of Order 61-66

R-34 Order Denying Motion to Dismiss 73
R-35 Motion for Reconsideration 75-76
R-37 Order Regarding Motion for Reconsideration 78-80
R-59 Minute Entry Noting Mistrial 134
R-65 Superseding Indictment 194-96
R-80 Motion to Dismiss the Indictment 240-253
R-85 Government Response to Motion Dismiss 259-70

R-88 District Court Memorandum in Support of Order 284-88

R-89 Order Denying Motion to Dismiss 294-95
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R-95 Government’s First Motion in Limine 301-02
R-112 Exhibit List 362-63
R-128 Judgment in a Criminal Case 395-401
R-130 Sentencing Transcript 405-35
R-131 Notice of Appeal 436
R-137 Presentence Investigation Report 451-80
R-138 Transcript of Jury Trial Proceedings (Day 1) 481-597
R-139 Transcript of Jury Trial Proceedings (Day 2) 598-780
R-140 Transcript of Jury Trial Proceedings (Day 3) 781-892
R-175 Memorandum 1192-1207
R-176 Order 1208
R-177 Notice of Appeal 1209

The government also designates the following trial exhibits, which are

identified in the exhibit list (R-112) and reproduced in the government’s

appendix:
Exhibit No. Appendix Page
Defense Exhibit 1 (July 17, 2007 Robertson County Plea 1
Agreement)
Government Exhibit 1 3
Government Exhibit 2 6
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Government Exhibit 3 9
Government Exhibit 4 12
Government Exhibit 5 15
Government Exhibit 6 18
Government Exhibit 7 21
Government Exhibit 8 24
Government Exhibit 9 28
Government Exhibit 10 34
Government Exhibit 11 40
Government Exhibit 12 46
Government Exhibit 13 52
Government Exhibit 14 65
Government Exhibit 21 72
Government Exhibit 23 73
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ADDENDUM A: July 14, 2006 Robertson County (Tennessee) Court Order
(Unpublished)
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